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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

The Frankenberg house is a two story structure built of rusticated concrete blocks
simulating coursed ashlar construction. It is situated on a large corner lot with
the two principal facades facing University Drive to the north, and Forest Avenue

to the east. Although slightly reminiscent of the Victorian mode in the massing and
some detailing, the stylistic treatment of the house is Neo-Classical Revival.

The house is rectangular in plan, measures roughly 24 by 36 feet, and is surmounted

by a moderately pitched hip roof. The symmetry of this roof form is broken by an
offset gable extension on the main (north) facade. Centrally located on the other
three slopes are broad, gabled ventilating dormers. Recalling the Victorian influ-
ence, each gable is detailed with multiple shaped shingles and each contains a louvered
ventilator. The original shingle roof is covered with ribbed roofing tile.

A veranda with a low pitched hipped roof extends along the north and east facades of
the house. The roof is supported by eight decorative pre-cast concrete columns
which rest on a continuous low concrete block wall. The columns are Neo-Classical
in design and exhibit foliated and fluted detailing on the upper portions of the
shafts. The shafts are topped with Roman Ionic capitals.

The original, raised wooden porch deck is accessible at each facade by a series of
four concrete steps flanked by low block walls. On the east facade a wooden
handicap access ramp is present at the end of the porch. The ramp is of recent
construction but is not intrusive to the overall character of the house.

The main facade of the house can be divided into two bays. The left bay is
articulated by a slightly projecting wall plan and is symmetrical about a vertical
axis. Topped by the gabled roof extension, this wall plane features a pair of

one over one light windows on the second level and a bayed window containing two

one over one sash on the first level. A shallow pediment on the veranda roof further
accentuates the symmetry of this bay.

The right bay contains the offset main entry on the first level and a single window
on the second level. The front door is original and features a single light with
molded and beveled panels and decorative stamped hardware.

The east facade, which faces Forest Avenue, is virtually symmetrical about a central
vertical axis. The axis is accentuated by a gabled shingled dormer and features
paired one over one windows on the second level and a three part bay window below.
Single window openings occur on each side of these central elements on both levels.

The rhythmic placement of the porch columns along this facade is sxmpathetic with
the symmetry of the wall plane. However, because it does not continue across the
facade, an appearance of irregular massing is achieved.

The west facade is also divided into three distinct parts. The central bay,
projecting from the wall plane, is topped by a gable extension and contains two
windows at both levels.

(See continuation sheét)
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A one story original frame addition extends along the south third of this facade. It
is finished with contemporary wood siding, and once served as an enclosed kitchen porch.

A two level enclosed frame porch exists to the rear of the structure. Constructed after
1965, this element replaces an original porch of similar scale and massing.

Other than some minor modifications to accommodate office use in the house, the interiors
of both levels remain predominantly intact.

On the first level an entry foyer provides access to the stairway and to the adjacent
parlor. The wood stairway is detailed with a paneled newel post, turned wooden balustrade
and paneled face string. The parlor, featuring a bayed window and splayed corner fire-
place, is separated from the dining room by a pair of paneled pocket doors. The dining
room also features a bay window. Also on the first floor are a study/bedroom to the

rear of the house and a kitchen opposite the dining room. The original pantry and kitchen
porch are modified to accommodate an office and bathroom. A second single run stairway
leads from the rear porch to the second level.

The original second floor plan contained five bedrooms and a bathroom with a screened
sleeping porch on the rear addition. A wall between the two east bedrooms has been
removed to create a larger space. All other rooms are unmodified and feature original
doors, casings and hardware. Two additional office rooms exist at the rebuilt rear
porch.

Despite the adaptation of the building to offices, the architectural features and
detailing of the Frankenberg house are still readily apparent and the overall integrity
of the house remains preserved.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Frankenberg house is significant for its architectural qualities as the best
preserved and largest local example of rusticated concrete block construction in Tempe.
The house was built in 1910 and is the second oldest of six remaining properties of
similar construction. It embodies the best design and craftsmanship effort of its
builders, J. W. Woolf and M.H. Meyer.

In addition to its architectural significance, the Frankenberg house is noteworthy as
being representative of the early twentieth century growth and expansion of Tempe. As
one of the first houses built in the residential neighborhood known as the Gage
Addition, the Frankenberghouse is evidence of both local architectural development
during that period and the first major building boom in Tempe history which lasted
until the Depression.

The house is named after Josephine Frankenberg because of her lengthy association with
the property. This association began in 1919 when she purchased the house and it
lasted until her death in 1949. Miss Frankenberg, who never married, continuously
occupied the house during that period. She rented rooms on the second floor to
boarders, mostly single teachers employed at the Territorial Normal School (now Arizona
State University). As a result, the house has been closely associated with the
University even though it remained in private ownership until 1965.

Josephine Frankenberg was one of seven children born to Ernst and Eulalia Frankenberg
who came to the Tempe area as homesteaders in late 1888. Ernst Frankenberg became a
prominent rancher and businessman, serving as president of the Tempe Irrigating Canal
Company, and as president of the Farmers and Merchants Bank and the Bank of Tempe.
Josephine was educated at the Territorial Normal School and taught for a number of
years in the Tempe and Mesa School Systems.

After she acquired the property, Josephine Frankenberg enjoyed a long standing local
reputation for her gardening and landscaping abilities which created a showplace of
the house and grounds. She was an active member of the Tempe Women's Club and a
charter member of the Tempe Garden Club. Consequently, her house was the setting for
many of the functions of those organizations. The original landscaping still remains
in the front and side yards, but the rear yard gardens have been removed to provide
space for University related facilities.

Construction of the house began in November, 1909. It was built by local contractors
J.W. Woolf and M.H. Meyer as a residence for Theodore Dickinson. Both men were
responsible for the initial development of the concrete block making and construction
industries in Tempe.

(See continuation sheet)
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J.W. Woolf was a wealthy local rancher turned investor who provided financial backing
for the concrete block making business in Tempe. He and his partner, contractor M.H.
Meyer, were responsible for the design and construction of some 27 concrete block
structures in the Tempe area between 1909 and 1915.

The use of the building material was promoted heavily by J.W. Woolf, largely at his own
expense, but the business never became a profitable venture. When Woolf died in 1915,
the use of concrete block in local building construction died also. M.H. Meyer retired
shortly afterward and took up dairy ranching south of Tempe. The six remaining concrete
block buildings constructed by Woolf and Meyer in Tempe are the only evidence of a

local interpretation of this once widespread national trend in building technology.

When the house was completed in April, 1910 it was the largest concrete block structure
in the community and received a great deal of praise for its noteworthy design and use
of the most "modern" materials.

The Frankenberg house exemplifies the transition in local architectural development

from the traditional modes to more current stylistic trends. The "progressive" concrete
block building material is combined in a basically Neo-Classical residential format,

but exhibits some late Victorian overtones in its detailing and massing. Almost all of
its original integrity remains intact, but the house is in need of maintenance.

The house is prominently located on a large lot facing north along University Drive, in
what is known as the Gage Addition to Tempe. This was the third such addition to the
Tempe Townsite and the first subdivision promoted for exclusive residential development.
Deeds for the Tots imposed a minimum construction cost limitation which served to define
the size of the houses. Other provisions included front yard setback requirements and
restrictions against commercial use of the property. The development of the Gage
Addition represents the first attempts in Tempe to regulate the use and quality of
architecture in that community. The Addition was laid out by the Tempe Land and
Improvment Company immediately adjacent to the southern boundary of the Tempe Townsite.
It encompassed 10 blocks of residential lots surrounding a two block site used by the
Tempe Grammar and High School. The addition was bounded on the west by the Southern
Pacific Railroad right-of-way and on the east by the original 20 acre campus of the
Territorial Normal School. Transecting the Gage Addition is Mill Avenue, the major
north-south thoroughfare through downtown Tempe. Because the Addition straddles Mill
Avenue, two distinct neighborhoods in this addition evolved. One was to the west of
Mill Avenue, and one was to the east, sandwiched between the Territorial Normal School
Campus and the Tempe Grammar and High School site (now a shopping center).

As a result of the expansionist policy of the Territorial Normal School, initiated in
1909 by A.J. Mathews, one of the school's most energetic presidents, all of the east
neighborhood in the Gage Addition has been acquired for university facilities. Today
the Frankenberg house is the only remaining residential structure left in that
neighborhood and is currently owned by the University and used as offices for the
College of Architecture.
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"Photographs and History, 01d Settlers of Tempe Association," Tempe Public Library,
n.d.

"Portrait and Biographical Record of Arizona," Chapman Publishing Co., New York, 1901.
Tempe City Directories, Various years, 1900 through 1930.

Tempe Historical Society, Leona Jones Gray; Photograph Collection.

Tempe News, 1909 through 1915.



